



Swansea University
Prifysgol Abertawe



Cronfa - Swansea University Open Access Repository

This is an author produced version of a paper published in:

Journal of Psychopharmacology

Cronfa URL for this paper:

<http://cronfa.swan.ac.uk/Record/cronfa34556>

Paper:

Parrott, A., Downey, L., Roberts, C., Montgomery, C., Bruno, R. & Fox, H. (2017). Recreational 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine or 'ecstasy': Current perspective and future research prospects. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, 31(8), 959-966.

<http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0269881117711922>

This item is brought to you by Swansea University. Any person downloading material is agreeing to abide by the terms of the repository licence. Copies of full text items may be used or reproduced in any format or medium, without prior permission for personal research or study, educational or non-commercial purposes only. The copyright for any work remains with the original author unless otherwise specified. The full-text must not be sold in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holder.

Permission for multiple reproductions should be obtained from the original author.

Authors are personally responsible for adhering to copyright and publisher restrictions when uploading content to the repository.

<http://www.swansea.ac.uk/library/researchsupport/ris-support/>

Recreational MDMA (3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine; ‘Ecstasy’): current ~~perspective~~ and perspective and future research prospects.

Parrott AC ^{1,2}, Downey LA ^{2,3}, Roberts, CA⁴, Montgomery C⁵, Bruno R⁶, Fox HC ⁷.

¹ Department of Psychology, Swansea University, Swansea, UK.

² Centre for Human Psychopharmacology, Swinburne University, Melbourne, Australia.

³ Institute for Breathing and Sleep, Austin Health, Melbourne, Australia

⁴ Institute of Psychology, Health and Society, University of Liverpool, Liverpool, UK.

⁵ School of Natural Sciences and Psychology, Liverpool John Moores University, Liverpool, UK.

⁶ School of Medicine, University of Tasmania, Hobart, Australia.

⁷ Stony Brook University, School of Medicine, Department of Psychiatry, NY, USA.

Author for correspondence:

Professor AC Parrott,
Department of Psychology
Swansea University,
Swansea SA2 8PP,
Wales, United Kingdom.

Tel: +44 (0) 1792 295271

Email: a.c.parrott@swansea.ac.uk

Abstract.

Aims: to debate current understandings about the psychobiological effects of recreational MDMA or 'ecstasy', and recommend theoretically-driven topics for future research.

Methods: recent empirical findings, especially those from novel topic areas were reviewed. Potential causes for the high variance often found in group findings were also examined.

Results and conclusions: the first empirical reports into psychobiological and psychiatric aspects from the early 1990s concluded that regular users demonstrated some selective psychobiological deficits, for instance worse declarative memory, or heightened depression. More recent research has covered a far wider range of psychobiological functions, and deficits have emerged in aspects of vision, higher cognitive skill, neurohormonal functioning, and foetal developmental outcomes, and other. However, variance levels are often high, indicating that while-while-that some recreational users develop problems, others are less affected. Potential reasons for this high variance are debated. An explanatory model based on multi-factorial causation is then proposed.

Future directions: a number of theoretically driven research topics are suggested, in order to empirically investigate the potential causes for these diverse psychobiological deficits. Future neuroimaging studies should study the practical implications of any serotonergic and/or neurohormonal changes, using a wide range of functional measures.

Key words: MDMA - Ecstasy - CNS - stimulant –memory – cognition - psychobiology

Introduction.

The recreational use of 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA) commenced primarily during the mid-1980s, and the first empirical reports on its physiological, psychobiological, and psychiatric aspects were published within a few years (Shulgin, 1986; Peroutka, 1989; McCann and Ricaurte, 1991). These were complemented by early cohort studies (Peroutka et al, 1988; Solowij et al, 1990; Krystal et al, 1992), and since then numerous empirical investigations have been conducted. The emergent findings have been the focus for a number of reviews (McCann and Ricaurte, 2000; 2014; Parrott, 2001, 2006, 2013a; Rogers et al, 2009; White 2014). These reviews have shown that recreational users can display a range of psychobiological deficits, while other psychobiological functions may remain intact. The first areas of deficit to be described included aspects of memory and cognition, sleep, and certain psychiatric disorders such as depression (McCann and Ricaurte, 1991; Curran and Travill, 1997; Schifano et al, 1998; Parrott et al, 1998; McGuire, 2000; Wareing, et al, 2000; Verkes, et al., 2001; Soar et al, 2001; McCardle et al, 2004).

Subsequent research investigated a wider range of psychobiological functions, and several further areas of deficits have been identified. They have included vision, higher cognition, psychomotor performance, neurohormonal activity, immunocompetance, and its effects when taken by pregnant women on birth outcomes and subsequent child development (Gerra et al, 2003; Fisk, et al., 2005; Murray et al, 2012; Parrott, 2013b; Singer et al, 2012a,b, 2016). One aim of this current perspective paper is to summarise the wider range of problems revealed by this expansion in research.

As with many of the earlier studies into the psychobiological effects of MDMA consumption, these more recent investigations have described an intriguing mixture of significant and non-significant findings. This is certainly apparent in neurocognition research, particularly in the area of executive functioning. While some studies report ecstasy-related cognitive dysfunctions, other studies report intact task performance (Murphy et al, 2009; Roberts et al, 2016a). Furthermore, even when a single cognitive measure is used, deficits are apparent in some studies - but not in others (Rogers et al, 2009). This variation also occurs with vision research, since while some visual skills remain unaffected, other visual tasks demonstrate significant impairments (Murray et al, 2012). Similarly with sleep studies, some individuals report impairments - whereas others do not (McCann et al, 2007, 2009; Ogeil et al, 2011, 2013). In neurohormonal research, while overall group cortisol levels are significantly raised, the MDMA subgroup data often shows pronounced variance, which again indicates considerable variation in drug effects between individuals (see Figure 1 in Parrott et al, 2014). It is important that this variance in physical and psychological findings is incorporated into our models of causation. Hence, this current perspective will debate the factors which may influence the development *or non-development* of neuropsychobiological problems in recreational Ecstasy/MDMA users. It will ~~also suggest~~[also suggest](#) some future research topics with a theoretical rationale for examining the causes of this variation.

Neurocognition

The first area of psychobiological deficit to be associated with MDMA usage was declarative memory (Krystal et al, 1993). Many subsequent studies have empirically confirmed the presence of memory deficits in some Ecstasy/MDMA users, although as noted earlier, a degree of variation has also been apparent (Laws and Kokkalis, 2007; Rogers et al, 2009). Many studies have also observed that prospective memory is impaired in MDMA users; with damage to 5-HT rich areas in the hippocampal and frontal processing areas being suggested as a potential mechanism for these impairments (Heffernan et al, 2001; Rendell et al, 2007; Hadjiefthyvoulou et al, 2011a,b; Parrott, 2013b). MDMA is a selective serotonin neurotoxin in laboratory animals, and neuroimaging studies have found reduced SERT levels in humans,

although there is active debate over the underlying nature of these serotonergic changes (Kish et al, 2010; Di Iorio et al, 2012; Benningfield and Cowan, 2013; Parrott, 2013b). In this context, Quelch et al (2012) is particularly relevant for debating how to interpret the many SERT imaging studies which have used the ligand DASB.

Given the reductions in SERT density in the cerebral cortex, it would be expected that the neurocognitive functions subserved by these 5-HT rich areas should also show a decline. Areas of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex are densely innervated ~~by~~^{with} 5-HT neurons, and ~~they~~ are understood to belie executive functioning ability (Curtis and D'Esposito, 2003). Many studies have investigated executive functioning in ecstasy/MDMA users, although again the performance findings have been quite varied (Murphy et al, 2009). One potential reason for this inconsistency may be that the tasks used in these earlier studies were not function specific. Miyake et al (2000) proposed that overall executive functioning comprised three correlated, but distinct, sub-functions: *updating*, *switching*, and *inhibitory control*, while a fourth subcomponent of *access* to semantic/long term memory was added by Fisk and Sharp (2004). In a systematic review and meta-analysis of executive performance in ecstasy users versus polydrug controls, it was concluded that ecstasy users showed performance deficits in updating, switching and access, but not in inhibitory control (Roberts et al²., 2016b). This is particularly interesting, given that a more recent theoretical framework of executive ~~functioning~~^{suggested} ~~suggested~~ that inhibitory control might not be an independent factor (Miyake et al, 2012). Mention should also be made of Halpern et al (2011), since this study has often been cited as finding no cognitive deficits in Ecstasy/MDMA users. Indeed their Abstract suggested only slight deficits: 'We found little evidence of decreased cognitive performance in ecstasy users, save for poorer strategic self-regulation', although they also noted: 'This finding contrasts with many previous findings including our own'. However close examination shows that there were significant performance deficits on several cognitive measures; these were debated in the following commentaries (Fisk et al, 2011; Parrott, 2011; Rodgers et al, 2011).

Recent neuroimaging studies have increased our understanding of how MDMA may alter cognitive function. Using function specific tasks, Roberts and Montgomery (2015a,b) observed changes in neuronal activation in Ecstasy/MDMA users compared to non-users, whilst completing tasks that tap access and inhibitory control. In each case, the findings suggested that ecstasy users were engaged in more effortful

cognition, indexed by increases in oxygenated haemoglobin, to those brain sites needed for cognitive performance. It is proposed that this extra effort allowed them to reach the performance levels achieved by the controls. The authors concluded that these changes in haemodynamics may reflect serotonergic neuroadaptation from repeated Ecstasy/MDMA use. These findings also highlighted the greater sensitivity of neuroimaging measures for detecting cognitive changes, when compared to behavioural measures alone. These studies were conducted using functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS). This is a relatively low cost neuroimaging technique, which measures changes in oxygenated and deoxygenated haemoglobin within the pre-frontal cortex. It measures near-infrared light at two wavelengths, one of which is attenuated by oxygenated haemoglobin, while the other is attenuated by deoxygenated haemoglobin. This can measure changes in haemodynamics to areas of the pre frontal cortex involved in many higher order cognitive tasks. This imaging technique is also robust to movement artefacts, so that it can be used with cognitive tasks requiring vocalisations or limb movements. The utility of fNIRS for future research has recently increased with whole head fNIRS systems, especially since they can be used simultaneously with EEG for multi-modal neural signalling. This may enable future research to elucidate MDMA effects on brain haemodynamics and electrophysiology, in relation to a wide range of cognitive functions. The contributory role of the serotonin system should also be monitored, since it displays modulatory effects for many different aspects of neurocognition (Meneses, 1999; Schmitt et al, 2006; Švob-Štrac et al, 2016)

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Vision.

The visual cortex also receives serotonergic input from the raphe nuclei, and due the long axon distances, it appears to be particularly vulnerable to ecstasy-mediated alterations (Roberts et al. 2016a). In a series of studies utilising responses to visual illusions, impairments in some aspects of visual processing have been demonstrated among abstinent ecstasy consumers. For instance, they have demonstrated compromised orientation processing of stimuli at the level of the primary visual cortex or V1 (Dickson et al, 2009). These visual changes were positively correlated with the frequency and quantity of ecstasy use, but were independent of other drugs consumed. Subsequent studies from another laboratory have replicated this

impairment, and demonstrated that the underlying mechanism may reflect a serotonergic role in lateral inhibitory processes in orientation sensitive neurons (White et al, 2013). However, such orientation processing deficits are not apparent in response to stimuli primarily processed in prestriate cortex V2 (Murray et al, 2012); this may possibly arise from the pooling of orientation signals as the information is being processed at higher levels of the visual cortex.

Using apparent global motion paradigms, Hall (2010) demonstrated pronounced motion processing deficits, as indicated by higher global motion thresholds; these visual deficits were related to Ecstasy/MDMA consumption, but were independent of other drugs including cannabis. Complex motion processing deficits among abstinent ecstasy consumers have also been identified by others (Rizzo et al, 2005). This work directly contradicts another small scale study using a similar paradigm that has suggested improved motion processing - albeit only in a subset of consumers (White et al, 2014). These effects on basic visual functioning have the potential to contribute to impairments in daily activities reliant on these processes, such as driving. In acute dosing studies, MDMA has been observed to impair various aspects of driving ability, including overall driving performance, and signalling adherence (Stough et al, 2012); these studies need to be repeated with chronic users. Furthermore it also changes other aspects of ocular activity, with increasing nystagmus (Downey et al, 2012), and driving problems such as tailgating are more apparent in abstinent Ecstasy/MDMA consumers (Dastrup et al, 2010). ~~Although~~ recent studies in our laboratory have failed to identify any deficits among abstinent ecstasy consumers on motion processing tasks in the context of simulated driving, such as estimation of time to collision with oncoming traffic (Bernard, 2011). This suggests that any impairment in coarse behavioural tasks such as driving, may not simply be a reflection of impaired visual processing. For instance, heightened levels of impulsivity have also been found, and this may be a contributing factor (Quednow et al, 2007). There may also be some differences in visual scanning of the overall driving environment. Alterations in visual perception and attention as indicated by saccadic eye movement patterns may provide an indicator of how changes in visual scanning behaviour contribute to an increase in the risk of accidents in abstinent MDMA users. Future research concerning the on-road and simulated driving ability of Ecstasy/MDMA users, both on drug and drug free, could benefit from inclusion of saccadic eye movement

technology to provide an index of more basic visual abilities and their putative disruption.

Polydrug factors.

Recreational Ecstasy/MDMA users often take a range of other psychoactive drugs, so an important issue is the neuropsychological consequences of this polydrug usage. In order to partially address this factor, most studies employ a comparison group of polydrug users who have taken other illicit recreational drugs, but not Ecstasy/MDMA (Fox et al, 2001; Fisk et al, 2005; Singer et al, 2016). Some studies employ two comparison groups: polydrug/illicit drug users, and legal drug-users (Hadjieftihyoulou, et al, 2011a; Roberts and Montgomery, 2016b), while others have employed multiple comparison groups. For instance, Parrott et al (2001) compared 768 young volunteers divided into six subgroups: non-users of any psychoactive drug (n=150); alcohol and/or tobacco (n=185); cannabis and alcohol/nicotine (n=97); non-MDMA polydrug (n=102); light Ecstasy/MDMA polydrug (n=115); and heavy Ecstasy/MDMA polydrug users (n=119). Self-rated psychiatric problems increased in line with greater psychoactive drug usage. The large sample sizes also facilitated the attribution of specific problems to particular drugs, with the Ecstasy/MDMA findings outlined in Milani et al (2000). Taurah et al (2013) assessed 997 participants divided into six subgroups: no psychoactive drugs (n=182); ~~alcohol~~; alcohol and nicotine (n=172); cannabis, alcohol and nicotine (n=163) ; non-MDMA polydrug (n=169); current MDMA polydrug (n=154); and former MDMA polydrug (n=157). They found significant impairments in both subgroups of Ecstasy/MDMA polydrug users across the whole of their test battery - which covered four psychobiological functions (sleep, impulsiveness, depression, and memory). The former Ecstasy/MDMA users showed minimal signs of functional recovery, despite nearly 5--years of abstinence. The large sample size also allowed the psychobiological effects of other drugs to be both analysed by regression, and statistically controlled via covariance. Taurah et al (2013) found that alcohol, cannabis, cocaine and ketamine were each associated with some psychobiological deficits, with moderate-to-high beta values. Furthermore, when alcohol, amphetamine, cannabis, cocaine, heroin, and ketamine were entered as co-variants, the deficits attributable to Ecstasy/MDMA remained significant - in both the current and former users.

Some studies have compared low and high Ecstasy/MDMA user subgroups, while others have statistically investigated the associations between specific performance deficits and individual

drugs, in order to investigate this polydrug factor (Fox et al, 2001; Rodgers et al, 2003). None of these approaches are however ideal, since the heavier Ecstasy/MDMA users are often more experienced users of other drugs (see Table 1 in Parrott et al, 2001). Hence despite the employment of polydrug users as controls, and statistical procedures such as regression and covariance, none of the current approaches provide a full solution. In methodological terms, recreational drugs research will always be quasi-experimental. Laboratory animal research can be relevant and useful, since it allows full empirical control, with placebo conditions and random drug allocation. Meta-analyses and theoretical debates around 'construct validity' are also crucial for our critical awareness and conceptual understanding (Parrott, 1991, 2013b; Laws and Kokkalis, 2007; Rogers et al, 2009). It should be noted that Ecstasy/MDMA research has been at the forefront of this complex issue. It was noted in most of the early reviews, and an early theoretical debate (Parrott, 2004), had been followed by a more extensive and comprehensive review (Mohamed et al, 2011). Nearly every paper in this field currently refers to Ecstasy/MDMA 'polydrug' users. This is far less apparent in other fields of recreational drug research, such as cannabis, nicotine, cocaine or amphetamine (Parrott, 2015). Hence multiple-drug-usage remains a pervasive problem across the whole field of recreational drugs research. For the future, more creative and sophisticated solutions need to be devised, perhaps incorporating molecular imaging, pharmacological challenges and genetic research methodologies, and well designed prospective studies.

~~nOften more. Hence multiple, perhaps incorporating molecular imaging, pharmacological challenges and genetic research methodologies, with well-designed prospective studies~~

Human pregnancy and foetal aspects

Psychoactive drugs can impair foetal development, and deficits have been found with alcohol, cocaine, nicotine, heroin, cannabis, and many other drugs (Minnes et al, 2011; Behnke et al, 2013). The devastating effects of methyl mercury poisoning in the 1950s, and thalidomide in the 1960s, showed the profound foetal vulnerability to all toxins - even at low or negligible doses. Hence it is important to empirically investigate the neurobehavioral effects of prenatal Ecstasy/MDMA exposure on infant development. The pharmacodynamic effects of acute Ecstasy include changes to the 5-HT system, the HPA axis and gonadal hormones (Dickerson et al., 2008; Parrott et al., 2014), and all these factors may be linked to reductions in prenatal growth and postnatal development (Davis et al, 2011, Boukhris et al, 2016). The neuroadaptations

with MDMA have also been associated with fluctuations in mood, cognition, sleep, and appetite (Curran and Travill, 1997; Parrott, 2002), additional factors which may also impact on foetal development (Okun et al, 2013, Kinsella and Monk, 2009). In recent years, women of child-bearing age have been consuming drugs such as Ecstasy to similar extents as men (Degenhardt et al, 2008), setting them at a sex-specific disadvantage for secondary risk factors such as psychiatric co-morbidity (Fox and Sinha, 2009).

The DAISY study recruited women who used Ecstasy and/or other recreational drugs at any time during their pregnancy, and prospectively assessed the neuropsychological development of their infants at various time points post-partum (Singer et al, 2012a,b, 2016). The pregnant women were categorised into three groups dependent upon their Ecstasy/MDMA usage during pregnancy: heavy Ecstasy users (n=13; 1.7 ± 1.8 tablets per week), light Ecstasy users (n=12; 0.09 ± 0.06 tablets per week), and polydrug user controls (n=68). The groups were statistically matched for a range of salient individual, drug and environmental factors. The Ecstasy/MDMA using mothers had used more cannabis, so this was employed as a co-variate. These women were predominantly from middle class backgrounds, living with partners, receiving similar annual incomes, similarly educated and showed no variation in terms of psychological profiles, or drug dependence.

Physical differences in foetal development were not observed, although at 1 month the Ecstasy-exposed infants were somewhat more lethargic and less hypertonic. At 4 months, the heavily Ecstasy-exposed infants performed significantly worse on gross motor skills as measured by the Alberta Infant Motor Scale (Piper et al, 1992), and Bayley Behavioral Rating Scales (Bayley, 1993). At 12 months post-partum these psychomotor decrements were again more severe in the heavily-exposed Ecstasy group compare to controls, and they persisted at two years of age, when the study ended (Singer et al, 2016). The lightly exposed Ecstasy babies were not impaired at any time point, although their very low levels of maternal Ecstasy exposure should be noted. One of the babies in the heavy exposure group showed severe birth defects, consistent with earlier case study reports of birth defects in MDMA exposed infants (McElhatton et al, 1999). These decrements in motor development may impact on later social relationships, thinking, and language. Gross motor development allows

infants to explore their environment, while fine motor skills represent the beginnings of object-based play and tool use which facilitate pre-verbal communication. Consequently, while language-related deficits were not observed in the DAISY study, social communication and interpersonal issues may possibly arise at later developmental stages (Chaibal et al, 2016). In terms of future research, our main recommendation is for an extended and prolonged replication. It would assess a larger numbers of ecstasy/MDMA exposed women, with the infants tested beyond 2 years, non-drug controls in addition to the polydrug controls, a larger battery of neurohormonal measures (e.g. cortisol, oxytocin, prolactin; Parrott, in press), and indices of serotonergic integrity.

Potential causes for the psychobiological variation

This final section will debate possible causes for the variance in findings, and suggest some future research topics. The most crucial factor is probably the amount of drug taken, indeed the contributory role of lifetime usage has often been noted (Gouzoulis-Mayfrank et al, 2003; Parrott, 2006; Kish et al, 2010; White, 2014). Other potentially important drug factors might be the amount taken at any one session, ~~drug's~~ purity, and ~~method of administration-the mode of drug delivery~~. These are more difficult to measure since they are inherently more variable, and may change with greater experience. Indeed they may be closely related to lifetime usage, with chronic tolerance leading to more intensive usage (Parrott, 2005). Tablets have been the traditional ~~vehicle/route~~ for self-administration, but in recent years they have been complemented by 'bombs' (MDMA powders wrapped in Rizla papers and swallowed), and nasal insufflation (snorting as in cocaine). The functional implications of these newer, and potentially stronger methods of self-administration, need to be empirically investigated. Such methods since they facilitate higher self-dosing, they may be related to stronger outcomes. Very heavy users may also inject, but again the practical implications have rarely been studied. Samuel et al (2013; full report Downey et al, in press). ~~reported-found significant~~ deficits in gross psychomotor skill in ~~drug free-drug-free~~ MDMA polydrug injectors, but this finding needs to be empirically replicated.

Environmental factors when on drug are also important, especially the physical and psychosocial conditions during consumption. Ambient and core body temperature, crowding, prolonged dancing and loud music can combine to produce hyperstimulation, potentially through the integrative actions of the HPA axis. The master neurohormone for the HPA axis is cortisol, and this is increased significantly by MDMA in the laboratory, while the degree of cortisol increase can be dramatically higher, around 800%, when MDMA is taken at clubs (Parrott et al, 2008). Three-month hair samples revealed that regular Ecstasy/MDMA users have cumulative cortisol levels 400% higher than non-user controls (Parrott et al, 2014). Cortisol provides a simple biological index for the level of energetic stress experienced by the organism; hence it may provide a useful measure for future research. In particular, it could be employed to test the bio-energetic stress model for humans (Parrott, 2006). This model is closely based on laboratory animal data which shows a wide range of environmental and drug interactions (Huether et al, 1997). The model proposes that the extent of bioenergetic stress experienced by the organism, will determine the degree of psychobiological problems it develops.

Another important neurohormone is oxytocin, since it is involved in affiliative behaviours, and may be central for the pro-social effects of recreational Ecstasy/MDMA (McGregor et al, 2008; Broadbear et al, 2014). However, again the empirical findings are surprisingly variable. While one empirical study found a positive correlation between the extent of oxytocin release and pro-social outcomes in terms of moods (Dumont et al, 2009), several other studies failed to demonstrate the predicted association (Parrott, 2016in press). Future research might benefit from investigating a wider range of psychobiological dependent variables. ~~Could differences~~ Perhaps ~~Could differences~~ in oxytocin reactivity ~~could help to~~ explain some of the variation in mood reactions to MDMA?. ~~Similarly o~~ Oxytocin may ~~also~~ account for the increased libido, and riskier sexual behaviours, of some recreational MDMA users (Theall et al, 2006; May and Parrott, 2015). It may also be important during pregnancy, given its core functions around birth (viz: for birth contractions and subsequent lactation). Hence it would be interesting to replicate the prospective DAISY study (Singer et al, 2012a,b, 2016), using a full battery of neurohormonal measures administered at various time points during pregnancy, and after the birth. Another important group of factors are individual differences, since they may

contribute to the variation in research outcomes. Individual differences in personality and psychiatric wellbeing have been investigated with many types of psychoactive drug, including alcohol, nicotine, cannabis, and the opiates. Yet surprisingly they have not featured strongly in MDMA research, despite potentially helping to explain why some individuals may be more far susceptible to the development of neuropsychobiological problems than others. Genetic factors have also been investigated in a few studies, but again they need to be monitored more widely.

In summary, MDMA (3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine) or Ecstasy remains a popular illicit drug, despite the many long-term negative consequences associated with repeated use. Moreover recreational use is a continued public health concern, particularly given recent increases in MDMA-related deaths (Anderson, 2014), and increasing tablet strength (Global Drugs Survey; Winstock, 2015), which reported tablets containing up to 200mg MDMA. With these higher strength supplies, the repeated use of MDMA may adversely affect the 5HT system after fewer lifetime exposures, than shown in earlier studies (Kish et al, 2010; Erritzoe et al, 2011; others). In a recent review of the psychobiological problems associated with these serotonergic changes, ~~evident in regular MDMA users (e.g. Kish et al, 2010),~~ it was clear that a wide range of psychobiological functions could be impaired (Parrott, 2013b). Yet these deficits could often be quite subtle, agreeing with the conclusion offered by Jacobs and Furnell (1997) that: ‘Serotonin is an enigma, it is involved in everything, but responsible for nothing’. The psychological deficits apparent in many recreational users fit this model. Hence we urge future research to be theoretically driven, and empirically test potential explanations - such as the energetic stress model. Certainly any explanatory model will need to consider a range of drug and non-drug factors as potential causative agents. The research might also help elucidate the diverse psychobiological functions subserved by serotonergic neurotransmission, and their potential modulation by neurohormonal influences.

Acknowledgements.

This paper was developed from the recreational Ecstasy/MDMA symposium held at the 31st International Congress of Psychology in Yokohama Japan, in July 2016. The symposium covered empirical findings, theoretical perspectives, and future research needs.

References

- Anderson T (2014). Molly deaths and the failed war on drugs. *Contexts* 13, 48–53.
- Bayley N (1993). Bayley scales of infant development. 2nd Edition ed. San Antonio, TX: The Psychological Corporation.
- Behnke M, Smith VC, Levy S, Ammerman SD, Gonzalez PK, Ryan SA, Carlo WA. (2013). Prenatal substance abuse: short-and long-term effects on the exposed fetus. *Pediatrics*, 131: e1009-e1024.
- Benningfield MM, Cowan RL (2013). Brain serotonin function in MDMA (Ecstasy) users: evidence for persisting neurotoxicity. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 38: 253-255.
- Bernard C (2011). Let's get practical; investigating the role of serotonin in real-world motion processing, using an 'ecstasy' (MDMA)-based research model. Unpublished thesis, University of Tasmania, Hobart, Australia.
- Bourkhris T, Sheehy O, Mottron L, Berard A. (2016). Antidepressant use during pregnancy and the risk of autism spectrum disorder in children. *Jour Amer Med Assoc Pediatr* 170: 117-124.
- Bradley RH, Caldwell BM (1984). The relation of infants' home environments to achievement test performance in first grade: a follow-up study. *Child Dev* : 55, 803-809.
- Brière FN, Fallu JS, Janosz M, Pagani LS (2012). Prospective associations between meth/amphetamine (speed) and MDMA (ecstasy) use and depressive symptoms in secondary school students. *Jour Epidemiol Commun Health*. 66: 990-994.
- Broadbear JH, Kabel D, Tracy L, Mak P (2014). Oxytocinergic regulation of endogenous as well as drug-induced mood. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 119: 61-71

Chaibal S, Bennet S, Rattanathanthong K, Siritaratiwat W (2016). Early developmental milestones and age of independent walking in orphans compared with typical home-raised infants. *Early Hum Devop* 101: 23-26.

Curran HV, Travill RA (1997). Mood and cognitive effects of +/-3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA, 'ecstasy'): week-end 'high' followed by mid-week low. *Addiction* 92: 821-31.

Curtis CE, D'Esposito M (2003). Persistent activity in the prefrontal cortex during working memory. *Trends in Cog Sci* 7: 415-423.

Dastrup E, Lees MN, Bechara A, Dawson JD, Rizzo M (2010) Risky car following in abstinent users of MDMA. *Accid Anal Prev* 42: 867-73.

Davis EP, Waffarn F, Sandman CA (2011). Prenatal treatment with glucocorticoids sensitizes the hpa axis response to stress among full-term infants. *Dev Psychobiol* 53: 175-83.

Degenhardt L, Chiu WT, Sampson N, Kessler R C, Anthony JC, Angermeyer M, et al (2008). Toward a global view of alcohol, tobacco, cannabis, and cocaine use: findings from the WHO World Mental Health Surveys. *PLoS Med*, 5: e141.

Dickerson SM, Walker DM, Reverton ME, Duvauchelle CL, Gore AC (2008). The recreational drug ecstasy disrupts the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal reproductive axis in adult male rats. *Neuroendocrinology* 88: 95-102.

Dickson C, Bruno R, Brown J (2009) Investigating the role of serotonin in visual orientation processing using an 'ecstasy' (MDMA)-based research model. *Neuropsychobiology* 60: 204-12.

Di Iorio CR, Watkins TJ, Dietrich MS, Cao A, Blackford JU, Rogers B, Ansari MS, Baldwin RM, Li R, Kessler RM, Salomon RM, Benningfield M, Cowan RL (2012). Evidence for chronically altered serotonin function in the cerebral cortex of female

3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine polydrug users. *Arch Gen Psychiat*. 69: 399-409.

Downey LA, King R, Papafotiou K, Swann P, Ogden E, Stough C (2012). Examining the effect of dl-3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA) and methamphetamine on the standardized field sobriety tests. *Forenc Sci Internat*, 220: 1016.

Downey, LA, Tysse B, Ford TC, Samuels AC, Wilson RP, Parrott AC (in press). Psychomotor tremor and proprioceptive control problems in current and former stimulant drug users: an accelerometer study of heavy users of amphetamine, MDMA, and other recreational stimulants. *Jour Clin Pharmacol*.

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Normal, Left, Right: 0.51 cm

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Dumont GJ, Verkes RJ (2006). A review of acute effects of 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine in healthy volunteers. *Jour Psychopharmacol* 20: 176-187.

Fisk JE, Gallagher, DT, Hadjiefthyvoulou F, Montgomery C (2014). Temporal and visual source memory deficits among ecstasy/polydrug users. *Hum Psychopharmacol*, 29: 172-182.

Fisk JE, Montgomery C, Wareing M, Murphy PN. (2005). Reasoning deficits in ecstasy (MDMA) polydrug users. *Psychopharmacology* 181: 550-559.

Fisk JE, Sharp CA (2004). Age-related impairment in executive functioning: updating, inhibition, shifting and access. *Jour Clin Exper Neuropsychol* 26: 874-890.

Fisk JE, Murphy PN, Montgomery C, Wareing M (2011). Comment on Halpern et al. (2011). *Addiction*, 106:1368-1369.

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing: 1.5 lines, Don't adjust space between Latin and Asian text, Don't adjust space between Asian text and numbers, Pattern: Clear

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Fox H, Parrott AC, Turner JJD (2001). Ecstasy/MDMA related cognitive deficits: a function of dosage rather than awareness of problems. *Jour Psychopharmacol* 15: 273-281.

Fox HC, McLean A, Turner JJD, Parrott AC, Rogers R, Sahakian BJ (2002). Neuropsychological evidence of a relatively selective profile of temporal dysfunction in drug-free MDMA ("ecstasy") polydrug users. *Psychopharmacology* 162: 203-214.

Fox HC, Sinha, R (2009). Sex differences in drug-related stress-system changes: implications for treatment in substance-abusing women. *Harv Rev Psychiatry*, 17: 103-19.

Freedman FR, Johanson C, Tancer ME (2005). Thermoregulatory effects of 3,4-methylenedioxyamphetamine (MDMA) in humans. *Psychopharmacology* 183: 248-256.

Gerra G, Bassignana S, Zaimovic A, Moi G, Bussandri M, Caccavari C, Brambilla F (2003). Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis responses to stress in subjects with 3,4-methylenedioxy-methamphetamine ('ecstasy') use history: correlation with dopamine receptor sensitivity. *Psychiatry Res*; 120: 115-124.

Gouzoulis-Mayfrank E, Thimm B, Rezk M, Hensen G, Daumann J (2003). Memory impairment suggests hippocampal dysfunction in abstinent ecstasy users. *Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiat* 27: 819-827.

Hadjiefthyvoulou F, Fisk JE, Montgomery C, Bridges N (2011a). Everyday and prospective memory deficits in ecstasy/polydrug users. *Jour Psychopharmacol*. 25: 453-464

Hadjiefthyvoulou F, Fisk JE, Montgomery C, Bridges N (2011b). Prospective memory functioning among ecstasy/polydrug users: evidence from the Cambridge Prospective Memory Test (CAMPROMPT). *Psychopharmacology* 215: 761-774.

Hall C (2010). Investigating the role of serotonin in visual motion processing using an Ecstasy (MDMA)-based model. Unpublished thesis, University of Tasmania, Hobart, Australia.

Halpern JH, Sherwood AR, Hudson JI, Gruber S, Kozin D, Pope HG Jr. (2011). Residual neurocognitive features of long-term ecstasy users with minimal exposure to other drugs. *Addiction*, 106: 777-786.

Hefferman TM, Jarvis H, Rodgers J, Scholey AB, Ling J (2001). Prospective memory, everyday cognitive failures, and central executive function in recreational users of ecstasy. *Hum Psychopharmacol* 16: 607- 612.

Huether G, Zhou D, Ryuther E (1997). Causes and consequences of the loss of serotonergic presynapses elicited by the consumption of 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA, "ecstasy") and its congeners. *Jour Neural Transmiss* 104: 771-794.

Kinsella MT, Monk C (2009). Impact of maternal stress, depression and anxiety on fetal neurobehavioral development. *Clin Obstet Gynecol*, 52: 425-40.

Kish SJ, Lerch J, Furukawa Y, Tong J, McCluskey T, Wilkins D, Houle S, Meyer J, Mundo E, Wilson AA, Rusjan PM, Saint-Cyr JA, Guttman M, Collins DL, Shapiro C, Warsh JJ, Boileau I. (2010). Decreased cerebral cortical serotonin transporter binding in ecstasy users: a positron emission tomography/[¹¹C]DASB and structural brain imaging study. *Brain* 133: 1779-97.

Krystal JH, Price LH, Opsahl C, Ricaurte GA, Heninger GR (1992). Chronic 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA) use: effects on mood and neuropsychological function? *Amer Jour Drug Alc Abuse* 18: 331-341.

Laws KR, Kokkalis J (2007). Ecstasy (MDMA) and memory function: a meta-analytic update. *Hum Psychopharmacol* 22: 381-388.

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Line spacing: 1.5 lines

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt, Italic

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Normal, Left, Pattern: Clear (White)

Formatted: Font: Italic

McCann UD, Ricaurte GA (1991). Lasting neuropsychiatric sequelae of (+/-)methylenedioxyamphetamine ('ecstasy') in recreational users. *Jour Clin Psychopharmacol*.11: 302-305.

Formatted: Line spacing: 1.5 lines

McCann UD, Eligulashvili V, Ricaurte GA (2000). 3,4 methylenedioxyamphetamine ("Ecstasy")-induced serotonin neurotoxicity: clinical studies. *Neuropsychobiology* 42: 11-16.

Formatted: Font: Italic

McCann UD, Ricaurte GA (2007). Effects of (+/-) 3,4-methylenedioxyamphetamine (MDMA) on sleep and circadian rhythms. *Scient World Jour* 2: 231-238.

Formatted: Font: Italic

McCann UD, Sgambati FP, Schwartz AR, Ricaurte GA (2009), Sleep apnea in young abstinent recreational MDMA ("ecstasy") consumers. *Neurology* 73: 2011-2017.

Formatted: Font: Italic

McCann UD, Ricaurte GA (2014). Effects of MDMA on human nervous system. In: *The Effects of Drug Abuse on the Human Nervous System*. Elsevier. Chapter 15, pp.475-497.

McCardle K, Luebbers S, Carter J, Croft R, Stough C (2004). Chronic MDMA (ecstasy) use, cognition and mood. *Psychopharmacology*, 173(3-4), 434-439.

McElhatton PR, Bateman DN, Evans C, Pughe KR, Thomas SHL (1999) Congenital anomalies after prenatal ecstasy exposure. *Lancet* 354: 1441-1442

McGregor IS, Callaghan PD, Hunt GE (2008). From ultrasocial to antisocial: a role for oxytocin in the acute reinforcing effects and long-term adverse consequences of drug use? *Brit Jour Pharmacol* 154: 358-368.

McGuire P (2000) Long term psychiatric and cognitive effects of MDMA use. *Toxicol Lett*. 112-113:153-156.

Formatted: Line spacing: 1.5 lines

Meneses A (1999). 5-HT system and cognition. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* 23:1111-1125.

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt, Not Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt, Italic

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Milani R, Turner JJD, Parrott AC, Parmar R.(2000). Recreational drug use and psychobiological problems, collaborative UK/Italy study(5): Ecstasy (MDMA) polydrug users findings. *Jour Psychopharmacol* 14: a15.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Right: -0.13 cm, Line spacing: 1.5 lines

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Line spacing: 1.5 lines

Minnes S¹, Lang A, Singer L. (2011). Prenatal tobacco, marijuana, stimulant, and opiate exposure: outcomes and practice implications. *Addict Sci Clin Pract.* 6: 57-70.

Miyake A, Friedman NP, Emerson MJ, Witzki AH, Howerter A, Wager TD (2000). The unity and diversity of executive functions and their contributions to complex “frontal lobe” tasks: a latent variable analysis. *Cog Psychol* 41: 49–100.

Miyake A, Friedman NP (2012). The nature and organization of individual differences in executive functions: four general conclusions. *Current Directions in Psychol Sci* 21: 8–14.

Mohamed WMY, Hamida SB, Cassel J-C, de Vasconcelos AP, Jones BC (2011). MDMA: Interactions with other psychoactive drugs. *Pharm Biochem Behav* 99: 759-774.

Formatted: Font: Italic

Montgomery C, Hatton NP, Fisk JE, Ogden RS, Jansari A (2010), Assessing the functional significance of ecstasy-related memory deficits using a virtual reality paradigm. *Hum Psychopharmacol* 25: 318-325.

Murphy PN, Wareing M, Fisk JE, Montgomery C (2009). Executive working memory deficits in abstinent Hefferman TM, Jarvis H, Rodgers J, Scholey AB, Ling J (2001). Prospective memory, everyday cognitive failures, and central executive function in recreational users of ecstasy. *Hum Psychopharmacol* 16: 607- 612.

Murray E, Bruno R, Brown J (2012) Residual effects of ecstasy (3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine) on low level visual processes. *Hum Psychopharmacol* 27: 226-34.

Ogeil RP, Rajaratnam SM, Phillips JG, Redman JR, Broadbear JH.(2011). Ecstasy use and self-reported disturbances in **sleep**. *Hum Psychopharmacol*.26: 508-16.

Formatted: Line spacing: 1.5 lines

Ogeil RP, Rajaratnam SMW, Broadbear JH (2013). Male and female ecstasy users: Differences in patterns of use, sleep quality and mental health outcomes. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 132:, 223-230.

Okun ML, Luther, J F, Wisniewski SR, Wisner KL (2013). Disturbed sleep and inflammatory cytokines in depressed and nondepressed pregnant women: an exploratory analysis of pregnancy outcomes. *Psychosom Med*, 75, 670-81.

Parrott AC (1991). Performance tests in human psychopharmacology (3): Construct validity and test interpretation. *Hum Psychopharmacol* 6, 197-207.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Right: -0.13 cm, Line spacing: 1.5 lines

Formatted: Font: Italic

Parrott, AC (2001). Human psychopharmacology of Ecstasy (MDMA): A review of 15 years of empirical research. *Hum Psychopharmacol*, 16: 557-577. †

Parrott AC (2004). Polydrug use amongst recreational cannabis and Ecstasy/MDMA users: pharmacodynamic reasons and neuropsychiatric implications. *World Jour Biol Psychiat* 5: 108.

Formatted: Font: Italic

Parrott AC (2005). Chronic tolerance to recreational MDMA (3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine) or Ecstasy. *Jour Psychopharmacol* 19: 71-83.

Parrott AC (2006). MDMA in humans: factors which affect the neuropsychobiological profiles of recreational Ecstasy users, the integrative role of bio-energetic stress. *Jour Psychopharmacol* 20: 147-163.

Parrott AC (2007). The psychotherapeutic potential of MDMA (3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine): an evidence-based review. *Psychopharmacology* 191: 181-193.

Parrott AC (2011). Residual neurocognitive features of ecstasy use: a re-interpretation of Halpern et al. (2011) consistent with serotonergic neurotoxicity. *Addiction* 106: 1365-1368.

- Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt
- Formatted: Line spacing: 1.5 lines
- Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt
- Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt
- Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt
- Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Parrott AC (2013a). Human psychobiology of MDMA or 'Ecstasy': an overview of 25 years of empirical research. *Hum Psychopharmacol* 28: 289-307.

- Formatted: Font: Italic

Parrott AC (2013b). MDMA, serotonergic neurotoxicity, and the diverse functional deficits of recreational 'Ecstasy' users. *Neurosci Biobehav Revs* 37: 1466-1484.

Parrott AC (2015). Why all stimulant drugs are damaging to recreational users: an empirical overview and psychobiological explanation. *Hum Psychopharmacol* 30: 213-224.

- Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Right: 0.12 cm, Line spacing: 1.5 lines
- Formatted: Font: Italic

Parrott AC (2016). Oxytocin, cortisol and 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine: neurohormonal aspects of recreational 'ecstasy'. *Behav Pharmacol*, 27:649-658

- Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt
- Formatted: Line spacing: 1.5 lines
- Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt, Italic
- Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt
- Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Right: 0.12 cm, Line spacing: 1.5 lines

Parrott AC, Montgomery C, Wetherell M A, Downey LA, Stough C, Scholey A B (2014). MDMA, cortisol, and heightened stress in recreational ecstasy users. *Behav Pharmacol* 25: 458-472.

Parrott AC, Lasky J (1998). Ecstasy (MDMA) effects upon mood and cognition; before, during, and after a Saturday night dance. *Psychopharmacology* 139: 261-268.

Parrott AC, Lees A, Garnham NJ, Jones M, Wesnes K (1998). Cognitive performance in recreational users of MDMA or “ecstasy”: evidence for memory deficits. *Jour Psychopharmacol* 12: 79-83.

Parrott AC, Milani R, Parmar R, Turner JJD (2001). Ecstasy polydrug users and other recreational drug users in Britain and Italy: psychiatric symptoms and psychobiological problems. *Psychopharmacology* 159: 77-82.

Parrott AC, Buchanan T, Scholey AB, Heffernan TM, Ling J, Rodgers J (2002). Ecstasy attributed problems reported by novice, moderate and heavy recreational users. *Hum Psychopharmacol* 17: 309-312.

Parrott AC, Lock J, Conner AC, Kissling C, Thome J (2008). Dance clubbing on MDMA and during abstinence from Ecstasy/MDMA: prospective neuroendocrine and psychobiological changes. *Neuropsychobiology* 57: 165-180.

Parrott AC, Young L (2014). Increased body temperature in recreational Ecstasy/MDMA users out clubbing and dancing. *Temperature* 1: 214-219.

Parrott AC, Sands, HR, Jones L, Clow A, Evans P, Downey LA, Stalder T. (2014). Increased cortisol levels in hair of recent Ecstasy/MDMA users. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol*, 24, 369-74.

Peroutka SJ (1989) 'Ecstasy': a human neurotoxin? *Arch Gen Psychiat* 46: 191.

Peroutka SJ, Newman H, Harris H (1988). Subjective effects of 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine in recreational users. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 1, 273-277.

Piper MC, Pinnell LE, Darrah J, Maguire T, Byrne PJ (1992). Construction and validation of the Alberta Infant Motor Scale (AIMS). *Can J Public Health* 83: (Suppl 2) S46-50.

Quednow BB, Kühn K, Hoppe C. et al (2007). Elevated impulsivity and impaired decision-making cognition in heavy users of MDMA (“Ecstasy”). *Psychopharmacology* 189: 517.

Quednow BB, Kuhn KU, Hoenig k, Maier W, Wagner M (2004). Prepulse inhibition and habituation of acoustic startle response in male MDMA (‘Ecstasy’) users, cannabis users, and healthy controls. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 29: 982-990.

Quelch DR, Parker CA, Nutt DJ, Tyacke RJ, Erritzoe D (2012). Influence of Different Cellular Environments on [3H]DASB Radioligand Binding. *Synapse*, 66: 1035–1039.

Formatted: Line spacing: 1.5 lines

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt, Italic

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, 12 pt

Reay JL, Hamilton C, Kennedy DO, Scholey AB (2006). MDMA polydrug users show process-specific central executive impairments coupled with impaired social and emotional judgement processes. *Jour Psychopharmacol* 20: 385-388.

Rendell PG, Gray TJ, Henry JD, Tolan A. (2007). Prospective memory impairment in "ecstasy" (MDMA) users. *Psychopharmacology* 194: 497-504.

Reneman L, de Win MM, van den Brink W, Booij J, den Heeten GJ (2006). Neuroimaging findings with MDMA/ecstasy: technical aspects, conceptual issues and future prospects. *Jour Psychopharmacol* 20: 164-175.

Rizzo M, Lamers CTJ, Sauer CG, Ramaekers JG, Bechara A, Anderson GJ (2005). Impaired perception of self-motion (heading) in abstinent ecstasy and marijuana users. *Psychopharmacology* 179: 559-566.

Roberts CA, Jones A, Montgomery C (2016a) Meta-analysis of molecular imaging of serotonin transporters in ecstasy/polydrug users. *Neurosci Biobehav Revs* 63: 158-67.

Roberts CA, Jones A, Montgomery C (2016b). Meta-analysis of executive functioning in ecstasy/polydrug users. *Psychol Med* 46: 1581-1596.

Roberts CA, Montgomery C (2015a). fNIRS suggests increased effort during executive access in ecstasy polydrug users. *Psychopharmacology* 232: 1571–1582.

Roberts CA, Montgomery C (2015b). Cortical oxygenation suggests increased effort during cognitive inhibition in ecstasy polydrug users. *Jour Psychopharmacol* 29: 1170–1181.

Rodgers J, Buchanan T, Scholey AB, Heffernan TM, Ling J, Parrott AC (2003). Patterns of drug use and the influence of gender on self-reports of memory ability in ecstasy users: a web based study. *Jour Psychopharmacol* 17: 389-396.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Right: 0.12 cm, Line spacing: 1.5 lines

Formatted: Font: Italic

Rodgers J, Buchanan T, Heffernan T, Ling J, Scholey A. (2011). 'Ecstasy use, by itself, does not result in residual neurotoxicity'- a powerful argument? *Addiction* 106:1369-1370.

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Line spacing: 1.5 lines

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt, Italic

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Rogers G, Elston J, Garside R, Roome C, Taylor R, Younger P, Zawada A, Somerville M (2009) The harmful health effects of recreational ecstasy: a systematic review of observational evidence. *Health Technol Assess* 13: iii-iv, ix-xii, 1-315.

Samuel A, Tysse B, Wilson R, Parrott AC (2013). Mood, memory, cognition and movement control in current and former heavy, intravenous, recreational drug users and non-user controls. *Curr Drug Abuse Revs*: 6: 298.

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt, No underline

Formatted: Line spacing: 1.5 lines

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt, Italic

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Schifano F, DiFuria L, Forza G, Minicuci N, Bricolo R (1998). MDMA consumption in the context of polydrug abuse: a report on 150 patients. *Drug Alc Depend* 52: 85-90.

Schmitt JA, Wingen M, Ramaekers JG, Evers EA, Riedel WJ. (2006). Serotonin and human cognitive performance. *Curr Pharm Des* 12: 2473-86.

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt, Italic

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Shulgin A T (1986). The background and chemistry of MDMA. *Jour Psychoact Drugs*. 18: 291-304

Singer LT, Moore DG, Fulton S, Goodwin J, Turner J J, Min MO, Parrott AC (2012). Neurobehavioral outcomes of infants exposed to MDMA (Ecstasy) and other recreational drugs during pregnancy. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* 34: 303-310.

Singer LT, Moore DG, Min MO, Goodwin J, Turner JJD, Fulton S, Parrott AC (2012). One year outcomes of infants exposed to MDMA (Ecstasy) and other recreational drugs during pregnancy. *Pediatrics* 130: 407-413.

Singer LT, Moore DG, Min MO, Goodwin J, Turner JJD, Fulton S, Parrott AC (2016). Motor delays in MDMA (Ecstasy) exposed infants persist to 2 years. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* 54: 22-28.

Soar K, Turner JJ, Parrott AC (2001). Psychiatric disorders in Ecstasy (MDMA) users: a literature review focusing on personal predisposition and drug history. *Hum Psychopharmacol* 16: 641-645.

Stough C, Downey LA, King R, Papafotiou K, Swann P, Ogden E (2012). The acute effects of 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine and methamphetamine on driving: a simulator study. *Accident Anal Prevent*, 45: 493-497.

Švob Štrac D, Pivac N, Mück-Šeler D (2016). The serotonergic system and cognitive function, *Transl Neurosci*, 9::35-49.

Taurah L, Chandler C, Sanders (2013). Depression, impulsiveness, sleep, and memory in past and present polydrug users of 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA, ecstasy). *Psychopharmacology* 231: 737-751.

Theall KP, Elifson KW, Sterk CE (2006). Sex, touch, and HIV risk among ecstasy users. *AIDS Behav* 10: 169-178.

Formatted: EndNote Bibliography, Justified, Line spacing: 1.5 lines, Pattern: Clear

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Line spacing: 1.5 lines

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt, Italic

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt, Italic

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

Formatted: Normal, Left, Space Before: Auto, After: Auto

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Expanded by 0.05 pt

Verkes RJ, Gijsman HJ, Pieters MS, Schoemaker RC, de Visser S, Kuijpers, M., Van Gerven J M (2001). Cognitive performance and serotonergic function in users of ecstasy. *Psychopharmacology* 153: 196-202.

Wareing M, Fisk JE, Murphy PN (2000). Working memory deficits in current and previous users of MDMA ('ecstasy'). *Brit Jour Psychol* 91: 181-188.

White C, Brown J, Edwards M (2013) Altered visual perception in long-term ecstasy (MDMA) users. *Psychopharmacology* 229: 155-65.

White C, Brown J, Edwards M (2014) Alterations to global but not local motion processing in long-term ecstasy (MDMA) users. *Psychopharmacology* 231: 2611-22.

White CM (2014). How MDMA's pharmacology and pharmacokinetics drive desired effects and harms. *Jour Clin Pharmacol* 54: 245-252

Winstock A (2015). The Global Drugs Survey 2015. <http://www.globaldrugsurvey.com/the-global-drugsurvey-2015-findings/>. Accessed February 2016.

Zakzanis KK, Campbell Z (2006). Memory impairment in now abstinent MDMA users and continued users: a longitudinal follow-up. *Neurology* 66: 740-741